Commissioners:
Trey Bodenhamer
Todd Vande Zande
Rebecca Patterson

= : : Carolyn Greenall
City of Kennesaw, GA Robert Trim

Douglas Butler

Planning Commission
Meeting Agenda
April 1,2026 6:30 PM
Council Chambers
(2529 J.O. Stephenson Avenue, Kennesaw, GA 30144)

Call to Order / Roll Call
Announcements

A. Allinterested parties may attend the meeting at the City Hall Council
Chambers. For those unable to attend in person, the meeting may be
accessed using the following link: https://www.kennesaw-
ga.gov/publicmeetings/. Please note that the Planning Commission serves as
an advisory board that makes recommendations to the Mayor and Council
unless otherwise noted.

B. Pending zoning applications may be viewed on an interactive map via the
Planning & Zoning webpage or using the following link:
https://arcg.is/1q1ubXO.

C. New business items on this agenda will be heard by the Mayor and Council on
April 20, 2026.

Approval of the Meeting Minutes
A. Approval of Meeting Minutes: March 4, 2026
New Business

A. LU2026-01 - Consideration of approval of a land use request submitted by
Leigh Anne Blades for the property located at 2970 Bancroft Glen
(20008802440). Said request is to obtain a home occupation business license
to create jewelry, accessories, handbags, and home decor. Property is zoned
Planned Unit Development - Residential (PUD-R), consists of 0.22 +/- acres,
and lies in land lot 88, tax parcel 244.

B. LU2026-02 - Consideration of approval of a land use request submitted by
Wanda Hostick for the property located at 3154 Hartness Way (20008803530).
Said request is to obtain a home occupational business license to create

Page 1 of 139


https://www.kennesaw-ga.gov/publicmeetings/
https://www.kennesaw-ga.gov/publicmeetings/
https://arcg.is/1q1ubX0

jewelry, accessories, handbags, and home decor. Property is zoned Planned
Unit Development - Residential (PUD-R), consists of 0.17 +/- acres, and lies in
land lot 88, tax parcel 353.

5. Staff Comment
6. Adjourn

Page 2 of 139



MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING
CITY OF KENNESAW
Council Chambers
(2529 J.O. Stephenson Avenue, Kennesaw, GA 30144)
March 4, 2026
6:30 PM

1. Call to Order/ Roll Call

Chairman Bodenhamer called the meeting to order at 6:31 p.mx

Roll Call: Trey Bodenhamer, Todd Vande Zande, Robert Trim, Douglas Butler
Absent: Carolyn Greenall and Rebecca Patterson

Staff Present: Chanelle Campbell (Director of Planningdand Zoning), andiRebecca
Goldstein (Community Development Administrative ASsistant)

Speakers Present: Matt Teague (Applicant, Directar of New Development at Walton
Communities), Bill Daniel (Cobb County resident), Alexis Daniel (Cobb County
resident), Jim Martin (Marietta resident), Stephen Show (Attorney, Cedar Creek
Professional Office Association), Charles Barge (Applieant, President of Cedar Creek
Professional Office Association), Adam_Rozen (AttorneysaDRB Group)

2. Announcements

A. All interested parties may attend the meeting atithe City Hall Council
Chambers. For those unable to attend in person; the meeting may be
accessed using the following link: https://www.kennesaw-
ga.gov/publicméetings/.| Please nate that the Planning Commission serves as
an advisory board that makes recommendations to the Mayor and Council
unless otherwise noted.

B. Pending zoning applications may be viewed on an interactive map via the
Planning &Zoning webpage or using the following link:
https://arcqa.is/iq1ubXO:

€. \New business items on this agenda will be heard by the Mayor and Council on
March 16, 2026.

3. Approval of the Meeting Minutes

A. Approval of meeting minutes: February 4, 2026

Chairman Bodenhamer called for a motion.

Motion to approve by Commissioner Trim

Seconded by Vice Chair Vande Zande

Chairman Bodenhamer proceeded with a roll call for approval.
Vote taken, motion unanimously approved 3-0. Motion carried.

4. Old Business

Page 3 of 139


https://www.kennesaw-ga.gov/publicmeetings/
https://www.kennesaw-ga.gov/publicmeetings/
https://arcg.is/1q1ubX0

A. RZ2026-01 - Consideration to rezone the properties located at 1600 Old 41
Hwy and 0 Old 41 Hwy (parcel #20021200130 & 20021201560) from General
Commercial (GC) and RM-12, Multiple-Family District to RM-16, Multiple-
Family District as submitted by Walton Communities, LLC. Said request is to
rezone the property for the development of a multi-family residential
community. Property consists of 11.44 +/- acres and lies in land lot 140, tax
parcels 13 & 156.

Ms. Chanelle Campbell presented this agenda item. This is a rezoning request
submitted by Walton Communities, LLC. This item was postponeddrom the February
agenda and is now before the Planning Commission for consideration. The applicant is
seeking to rezone approximately 11.44 +/- acres to RM-16, Multi<Family Residential to
allow the development of a new multifamily residential community. fa addition to the
rezoning, the application is requesting a variance to reddee the parking ratio from 1.75
spaces per unit to 1.5 spaces per unit. Ms. Campbellshoted that staff wouldypresent
both items as a single presentation, but each itemavould need to be voted on
separately.

The properties are currently zoned General Commercial (GC) and RM-12, Multi-family
Residential. The applicant is seeking to_consolidate the lots and rezone it to RM-16.
The original submittal proposed 182 unitsbut the actual'aumber of units will be less
because Section 1.09.02 of the Unified Development Code(UDC), defines developable
acreage as excluding rivers, streams, floodplains, and'natural lakes not created by
man-made dams, reduces the developable\land on thelot. When the undevelopable
acreage was removed fromsthe 11.44+/- acrés, the number of allowable units was
reduced. As part of the gurrent proposal, aceess to the site will be limited to interparcel
connectivity through Ridenour Boulevard. The existing curb cut on Old 41 Highway will
be closed to improve pedestrianconnectivity to'the Legacy at Walton Kennesaw
Mountain, 62+ community. The siteis'surrounded by a mix of commercial, retail, office,
and residential uses, and the comprehensive plan designates the property as
CommunitydActivityp€enter (CAC). The site also lies within the Ridenour Area, which
envisions'a multi-use environment combing four-story multi-family houses, and retail.
This area’is characterized by high'density development, elevated building pads along
Barrett Parkway and distinctive colorful architecture and facades. The combination of
steep terrain, floodplain impacts, and limited access creates unique and extraordinary
physical conditions not£ommonly found on surrounding properties. This parcel has
seen multiple‘unsuccéssful developments over the years due to the challenges and
constraints mentioned above. Staff finds the proposed multifamily development to be an
appropriate use for the site given its future land use and surrounding context. The same
constraints also impair the reasonable use of the property under standard zoning
requirements meeting the threshold for consideration of a variance. For these reasons,
staff recommends approval of the variance and approval of the rezoning request with
eleven conditions.

Public Notice of the applications was provided by advertisement in the Marietta Daily

Journal (MDJ), and postage of signage on the property. Ms. Campbell stated that staff
received a letter of opposition to the case on February 6, 2026. She announced that the

Page 4 of 139



attorney of record was unable to attend due to a scheduling conflict, but Matt Teague,
with Walton Communities, would be available to answer any questions. Ms. Campbell
also announced her availability to answer questions.

Chairman Bodenhamer invited the applicant to speak on the application.

Mr. Matt Teague introduced himself as affiliated with Walton Communities. He
explained that Walton Communities has been in the community since 2004 with Walton
Ridenour apartments, a 238 affordable apartment development adjacent to the site.
Walton Communities also built the Legacy at Kennesaw Mountain, which is also
adjacent to the site. Mr. Teague expressed that Walton Communities was committed to
the area and was excited to complete a third phase in the areat He,stated that he would
be available to answer any questions.

Chairman Bodenhamer opened the floor for public comment.

Mr. Bill Daniel introduced himself as a resident ofdlKennesaw 4He stated that'he was in
opposition to the plans presented by Walton. He stated hisdmain objection is because
he does not believe there is a shortage of apartmentibuildings. He provided the
Commissioners with an aerial map of the area whichiindicated the location of the
proposed rezoning, the Publix, which isithe only grocery store servicing the nearby
apartments, and fourteen apartment complexes. He argued that the number of
apartment complexes on the map, the number-of apartment’complexes with “Now
Leasing” signs and two recently built apartment«€omplexes-in downtown Kennesaw
meant there is not a shortage,ef housing."Hestated that he did not see a need for
housing. Mr. Daniel also expressed concern that the apartment complex would bring
approximately 341 newftenants to the area and would add to traffic. He cited current
traffic problems on Barrett Parkway, Stilesboro Road, Old 41 Highway, and Cobb
Parkway. He also expressed concern thatiadditional traffic would increase travel time to
Kennestone Hospital. He stated that it can‘take 30 to 40 minutes to get to Kennestone
Hospital, whichyis,3.6 miles away. He acknowledged that the traffic study indicated that
the trafficimpacts af the new development would be minimal, but found the results hard
to believe. Mr. Daniel'expressed his belief that the development would have a negative
impact an residents and businesses. He stated that the Publix serving the area already
has insufficient parking. He asked how Publix and the surrounding restaurants would
manage theadditional residents. Mr. Daniel summarized that he was concerned about
the impact on residents, the impact on traffic, and the strain on businesses.

Mrs. Alexis Daniel introduced herself as wife to Mr. Bill Daniel. She stated that they live
in The Reserve off Old 41 Highway where the complex is slated to be built. She
explained that they moved to Kennesaw less than four years ago for a quieter,
suburban quality of life with more space, more trees, and a safer environment. She
stated that she was opposed to the rezoning because of the negative impact on traffic,
the area’s infrastructure, and the character of the community. She explained that Old 41
Highway, Barrett Parkway, Highway 41, and Stilesboro Road, all major thoroughfares to
access the interstate, saw significant traffic during the morning, evening, and school
pick-up times. She expressed concern that the additional trips added by the apartment

Page 5 of 139



complex would increase congestion, accident risk, and emergency response delays.
Mrs. Daniels understood that the complex would be built by Walton and acknowledged
that the developer had done a nice job on other developments in the area, but was
concerned about the stress the apartments would place on existing infrastructure. She
commented that in the last four years, two townhome complexes and three apartment
complexes were built near their home without any new grocery stores, pharmacies,
parks, or schools to help with the influx of residents. Mrs. Daniels again expressed
concern that without plans to expand infrastructure, the apartments would strain
existing resources and add more residents to an area she believedd4o be designed for a
low-density, suburban lifestyle. Mrs. Daniels also commented that the development
would bring environmental and character impacts. She stated.thatthe vacant lot
currently acts as a natural buffer that provides green charagter, absorbs noise, and
manages stormwater runoff. She argued that clear-cutting for a dense, multifamily
complex would remove the buffer, increase the environmental impact, increase the
noise impact on nearby homes, and destroy the residential character of the area. She
requested that the Planning Commission deny theé rezoning request due to the
increased traffic, strain on local services, and a‘permanentdoss of character. She
thanked the Commission for listening to the people the deévelopment would impact the
most.

Mr. Jim Martin introduced himself as a local atterney with'a Kennesaw address that
lives in the Marietta city limits. He stated that hisiunderstanding of the proposed
rezoning was that it was a request to change the density tora higher density. His
understanding was that the apartments cauldéurrently be built at a lower density. He
apologized if he was incorfect, stating that'he was not a real estate attorney. Mr. Martin
claimed that the proposed access to the property was through a property owned by
Cobb County. He stated that his brief research indicated that the property had
previously been ownedyby Walton Communities but was now a non-taxable area for the
City of Kennesaw. He asked'if the property"would only be accessed through Ridenour
Boulevard. Heseommented that several developments have been proposed for the
location but never‘happened but assumed that mixed use was appropriate for the site.
He expressed his opinion that theysubject property was a terrible piece of property, in
part because it is adjacent to a high voltage power line. He agreed with Mr. Daniels that
there wasynot a shortage of apartment housing, explaining that few single-unit
residential hemes were yisible from Old 41 Highway. He also claimed that the City of
Kennesaw hadyjust annexed thirty-two acres for an apartment complex. He urged the
Planning Commission to deny the zoning request for the reasons expressed by Mr.
Daniel and Mrs. Daniel.

Hearing no additional public comment, Chairman Bodenhamer closed the floor for
public comment and opened the floor to Commissioner comments and questions.

Vice Chair Vande Zande asked staff if Mr. Martin's statement that the density would
increase with the proposal was accurate. He asked if the number of units decreased but
the density increased. Ms. Campbell responded that one of the properties the applicant
is seeking to rezone is zoned RM-12, but that the larger property is zoned General

Page 6 of 139



Commercial (GC). She stated that the applicant is requesting to combine the parcels
and rezone them to RM-16, which allows for a higher density. She explained that the
actual unit count on the property would be significantly lower due to topography and
floodplain challenges.

Commissioner Trim asked if the future land use on the property was CAC. Ms.
Campbell responded in the affirmative. Commissioner Trim asked if CAC called for
mixed use. Ms. Campbell again responded in the affirmative. Commissioner Trim
sought clarification as to whether the proposal included a commercial component. Ms.
Campbell responded that the CAC calls for a collection of mixed4se, commercial, and
residential uses. She explained that Ridenour already has a cemmercial component
that is adjacent to the west portion. She stated that additional commercial uses were
located along Barrett Parkway.

Ms. Campbell addressed the concerns expressed ddring public comments about the
potential strain on commercial properties. She was skeptical that the businesses would
see additional customers as a strain. She stated that staffincluded requirements for
pedestrian connectivity along Old 41 Highway in the eonditions. She explained that the
condition could potentially reduce traffic because individuals would utilize sidewalks to
access the surrounding businesses.

Commissioner Trim asked how far Whole,Foods'was,from the site. Ms. Campbell stated
that the Whole Foods was along Barrett'Parkway and'wasyabout half a mile from the
property. Commissioner Trimsasked if there.were two grocery stores within half a mile.
Ms. Campbell respondedn the affirmative.

Commissioner Butler'asked if access to the property was through Ridenour Boulevard.
Ms. Campbell responded in the affirmatives;Commissioner Butler asked if the
stipulations included measures to prevent-access from Old 41 and Barrett Parkway
directly. Ms. Gampbell responded in the affirmative. She explained that a curb cut had
previouslydeen built on Old'41Highway with the intention of using it as an access point
to the pfoperty. She stated thatithe curb cut would be closed off, and the sidewalks
would be connected due to traffic concerns.

Commissiener Butler asked if the remaining, smaller parcel would remain undisturbed.
Ms. Campbell responded in the affirmative. Ms. Campbell oriented the Commissioners
to where on‘the,site thé apartment complex would be located due to the presence of the
floodplain. She'explained that the trees in the flood zone would remain in place and that
the developed area would be outside the flood zone.

Chairman Bodenhamer commented that he appreciated the feedback on the case. He
reminded the public that the Planning Commission's role was not to deny or approve
applications. He clarified that the Commission makes recommendations to Mayor and
City Council and stated that Mayor and Council would approve or deny the application.
He explained that the Commission's decision was taken into consideration but was not
the final word on the case.

Page 7 of 139



Chairman Bodenhamer called for a motion.
Motion by Commissioner Trim to approve with the following conditions as outlined by
staff:
1. The rezoning of the Subject Property to RM-16, Multifamily zoning district shall be in
accordance with the technical and conceptual site plans submitted concurrently with the
application and shall comply with the required front, side, and rear setbacks, as well as
the overall density as outlined in the UDC for RM-16 zoning district.
2. The architectural style and composition of the buildings to be constructed on the
Subject Property shall be in reasonable conformity to the architectural
renderings/elevations submitted with the application and compatible with surrounding
development with the Ridenour/ Walton development.
3. Landscaping for the entrance area, signage areas, amenity and.courtyard areas and
all other common areas immediately surrounding the proposed buildings, shall be
professionally designed, implemented and maintainedgwhich shall includeythe
installation of an irrigation system in areas where appropriate.
4. Compliance with the recommendations from thé City Engineer and/or the City’s
Public Works Director regarding detention, watér quality and stormwater management.
5. The applicant will be required to complete sidewalk, cennectivity along Old 41
Highway, extending the pedestrian network from the'existing Legacy at Walton
Kennesaw Mountain (62+) community;
6. The proposed community shall utilize .the City. or Cobb County; utility services as is
typical for such residential development.
7. All utilities servicing the residences with\the proposed community shall be
underground.
8. The proposed development'shall include amenities for use and enjoyment of its
residents as follows:

a. A Clubhouse

b. Community courtyards, gathering'places, outdoor amenity space

c. Pedestrian connectivity
9. Dumpstersawilbbe positioned so as to prevent visual intrusion from streets,
connection pointsto the community spaces and, wherever possible with screening by
landscaping, walls and/or vegetation. Dumpsters shall have rubber lids and bumpers to
minimize noise during their emptying.
10. Minermodifications to the within and foregoing stipulations/conditions, lighting,
landscapingysignage, architecture, site fixtures and the like may be approved by the
City’s Planninghand Zahing Administrator or staff designee as needed or necessary.
11. The applicantiagrees that construction will begin in 24 months of the approval date
of the rezoning. [fno land development activity is initiated, then the subject property will
automatically revert back to the original zoning.
Seconded by Vice Chair Vande Zande
Chairman Bodenhamer proceeded with a roll call for approval.
Vote taken. Vice Chair Vande Zande, Commissioner Trim, and Commissioner Butler
voted in favor. Motion unanimously approved 3-0. Motion carried.

5. New Business

A. 2ZV2026-01 - Consideration of a variance application submitted by Walton

Page 8 of 139



Communities LLC for the properties located at 1600 Old 41 Hwy and 0 Old 41
Hwy (parcel # 20021200130, 20021201560). Said variance request is to
reduce the minimum parking requirement for multi-family dwelling units from
1.75 spaces per dwelling unit to 1.5 spaces per dwelling unit. Property consists
of 11.44 +/- acres and and lies in land lot 140, tax parcel 13 & 156.

Ms. Chanelle Campbell presented this agenda item. This is a variance request
submitted by Walton Communities, LLC. The request is to reduce the parking ratio from
1.75 spaces per unit to 1.5 spaces per unit. Due to the challenges ofshe topography,
the floodplain, and other constraints on the site, staff recommendsf@pproval of the
variance as submitted. The application for the variance adheresfto the stipulations and
requirements as outlined in section 9 of the Unified Development Cade (UDC).

Chairman Bodenhamer asked if the 1.75 ratio was base@,on the numberof units on the
parcel. Ms. Campbell responded that the requirementfis 1.75 per unit perthe UDC
regardless of how many units are proposed. She stated that the ratio was the
requirement for the number of parking spaces infa multifamily development. Chairman
Bodenhamer asked for staff's recommendation for the variance. Ms. Campbell
responded that staff recommended approval of the variance application. Chairman
Bodenhamer asked if there were any stipulations. Ms.“Campbell responded that there
were no stipulations.

Chairman Bodehamer invited the applicant to speak. Mr,Matt Teague stated that he
had no further comments.

Chairman Bodenhamer gpened the floor to'public comment. Hearing no public
comment, he closed the floor to public comment.

Chairman Bodenhamer epenéd the floor for Commissioner comments and questions.

Commissionér Butler,commented that the applicant mentioned the project was an
extension of The Walton at Ridenour. He asked the developer if the proposed
develepment would haveia similarmix of apartment styles targeting the same
residential base as the adjacent development or if the anticipated clientele was
different. Mr. Teague responded that it was undecided. He stated that the larger
community-ofil he Walton at Ridenour is an affordable community and that The Legacy
is for active adults over 62. He stated that they were requesting zoning for multi-family
with no stipulations on age or income. He also stated that the style of the buildings
would be very similar to the other communities.

Hearing no additional Commissioner comments, Chairman Bodenhamer closed the
floor to Commissioner comments.

Chairman Bodenhamer called for a motion

Motion to approve by Vice Chair Vande Zande

Seconded by Commissioner Butler

Chairman Bodenhamer proceeded with a roll call for approval.

Page 9 of 139



Vote taken. Vice Chair Vande Zande, Commissioner Trim, and Commissioner Butler
voted in favor. Motion unanimously approved 3-0. Motion carried.

B. RZ2026-03 - Consideration to amend the zoning conditions as outlined in
Ordinance # 2006-20 as submitted by Cedar Creek Professional Office
Association, Inc., - Alan Barge for the property located at 6095 Pine Mountain
Rd (parcel # 20014001470). Said request is to amend the zoning conditions
outlined in Ordinance # 2006-20 to eliminate stipulation #14. Property consists
of 2.88 +/- acres and lies in land lot 140, tax parcel 147.

Ms. Chanelle Campbell presented this agenda item. This is a rezening application
submitted by Cedar Creek Professional Office Association Incgin the care of Alan
Barge, and their representative, attorney Stephen Snow. The application contains a
request to amend the rezoning conditions approved under‘Ordinance #,2006-20,
specifically eliminating condition number 14, which requires interparcel’aceess and
shared access drive. In 2006, Mayor and Council rezoned the 2.88 +/- acre parcel from
General Commercial (GC) and R-20, Single Family, to Highway General Business to
support the development of what is now knowndé@s the Cedar Creek Professional
Center. At the time, the subject parcel and the adjacent 8.823+/- acre tract were under
the same ownership with the intent to expand the office complex across both properties.
The first office building was completed.in 2008, and continues to operate with multiple
professional tenants. On February 165 2026the Mayor and €ouncil approved the
rezoning of the 8.8 +/- acre tract from HGB to"Planned Unit Development - Residential
(PUD-R) submitted by DRB Group Georgia, LLCfforthe development of 89 for-sale
townhomes. Mayor and Council added the eondition that the development would
provide two access pointsdo the proposed subdivision. The applicant's request to
remove or modify the required access pointiwould limit the functional use of the parcel
for future development, thus reducing opportunities for shared circulation. The
applicant’s requestalse runs ceuntertosthe established policy framework that
encourages coordinated accéss management along the corridor. For these reasons,
staff recommends denial'of the request. On February 5, 2026, staff received a letter of
oppositiondOn"March4, 2026, staff additionally received a constitutional challenge.
Public nétice was provided through an advertisement in the Marietta Daily Journal
(MDJ) and postage of sighage onthe property. Ms. Campbell announced that staff and
the attorney of record, Mr. Snow, would be available to answer any questions.

Mr. Stephen Snow askeéd for a moment to review the constitutional challenge.

Chairman Bodenhamer asked if the applicant was looking to remove one of the two
points of entry into the area. Ms. Campbell responded that the condition explicitly states
that interparcel access and shared access drive shall be designated with adjoining
vacant property once future development of adjoining parcel is pursued. She stated that
the applicant is requesting to remove access to Pine Mountain Road. Commissioner
Trim explained that the office park is trying to stop a second point of entry. Ms.
Campbell further explained that there are currently two points of entry to the property,
one through King's Crossing and one through the shared access drive that leads onto
Pine Mountain Road.

Page 10 of 139



Mr. Stephen Snow stated that he had previously presented to the Planning Commission
and Mayor and City Council on behalf of Cedar Creek Professional Office Association.
He sought to clarify the applicant’s position. Mr. Snow stated that the applicant was no
longer seeking to eliminate access to Pine Mountain Road as the request was deemed
moot by the decisions of the Planning Commission and City Council. Instead, the
applicant is seeking a clarification that no further action is required to be taken of Cedar
Creek Professional Office Association with respect to the access point. He explained
that the access drive had already been designed and constructed per the requirements
of stipulation fourteen. Mr. Snow requested a recommendation from the Planning
Commission that no further action is going to be required for Cedar Creek to comply
with stipulation fourteen.

Mr. Snow stated that at the prior City Council meeting, an additional stipulation was
added that required the planned development by DRBdo have two accessypoints. He
stated that the applicant agreed with City Council that two access points were
necessary. He explained that the applicant did naet want DRB4o end up with'only a
single access point through their property to Pine MountainfRoad. He stated that there
had been numerous meetings on whether DRB’s development needed one or two
access points. He commented that it was not lost on*him that a larger apartment
complex was just recommended for appreval with one access point when two access
points were available. He stated that like the'proposed townhomes, the traffic study for
the proposed apartment complex at 1600,0Id 41 Highway stated that the development
would have no impact. He questioned the legitimacy of thertraffic study. Mr. Snow
explained that he made the cemparison because the cases had similar concerns, but
the City was taking opposite approaches in stating that DRB’s development needed
two access points but ether developments only needed one access point despite being
twice the size.

Mr. Snow argued that decisions made by the Planning Commission and City Council
were decisionsto,selectively.enforce or selectively not enforce the stipulations in
Ordinance® 2006-20nHe stated that the ordinance specifically places conditions and
requirements on the subject property, which is the 2.8 +/- acres that Cedar Creek sits
on, and then specifically talks about the development project as being the entire 11.78
+/- acres.\He stated that|the ordinance talks about the entire development as the
“subject development”, talks about the 2.8+/- acres as the “subject property”, and talks
about the adjaecent property to be developed as the “future development”. He claimed
that the ordinance,places specific requirements on the future development that were
disregarded by the Planning Commission and City Council to allow the rezoning and
currently planned development for the site. Mr. Snow provided several examples of
conditions in Ordinance # 2006-20 that were not applied to DRB’s new development
including architectural standards, a forty-foot buffer, themed lighting in line with the
architecture, muted lighting at the back of the property, dumpster locations, and no
overnight parking. He claimed that only stipulation 14 of the Ordinance, which states
that interparcel access and shared access drive shall be designed with adjoining vacant
property once future development of the adjoining vacant property is pursued, was
being enforced. Mr. Snow requested the Planning Commission delete stipulation 14 or

Page 11 of 139



provide a recommendation to City Council that the access drive has been built, and no
further action is required of Cedar Creek in further assisting the proposed development.
He stated that DRB could use the private drive, as they were required to have two
access points, but that Cedar Creek Professional Office Association should not be
required to take further action to comply with stipulation 14.

Chairman Bodenhamer opened the floor to public comment

Mr. Adam Rozen introduced himself as the representative for DRB_Group and stated
that he had represented them in their rezoning application last menth and their
opposition to the current rezoning application. Mr. Rozen stated that he wanted to
address why the access requirement and the stipulations ofdOrdinanee # 2026-20 are
binding on the applicant’s property but not on DRB’s property. He stated he also wanted
to address why they believe DRB’s application was appropriately approved and why
removing this stipulation from Ordinance # 2006-204s not appropriate. MriRezen stated
that DRB Group submitted an objection letter that‘outlined their opposition and
concerns with the request. He explained that theirrezoning hearing last month involved
discussions of traffic, circulation issues, and reasonsiwhy DRB felt two access points
were appropriate. City Council took the recommendations of the Planning Commission
and staff and approved the applicationgwhile adding the'condition that DRB would need
two access points. He stated that one'of the €encerns raisedhby Cedar Creek was that
they might be left as the only access paint. He'explained that'when City Council
mandated that DRB have two access points, they required»DRB to prove to the city that
they have both access points.te.develop the property, thereby addressing one of Cedar
Creek’s main concerns. He stated that they heard again from Cedar Creek the
suggestion that DRB shiould be left with only one access point, despite City Council’s
decision. Mr. Rozendhen asserted that the paints being made by Cedar Creek and
Cedar Creek’s objection to DRB’s rezoning,application were inaccurate. He claimed
that the conditions in Ordinahce # 2006-20"were binding only on the two-acre property.
He acknowledged,that there was a plan in 2006 that showed the eight acres, but stated
that City Gouncil'could,only have taken legislative action on the two-acre parcel when
the application was heard in 2006:,Mr. Rozen claimed that it was not selective
enfor€ement to enforce'the conditions on the two-acre property regarding access
requirements and that it was not selective enforcement to not enforce the Ordinance
conditions.on, DRB's eight acre property. Mr. Rozen asserted that while the ordinance
gave DRB the benefitof access by binding Cedar Creek's two acres, DRB was not
bound by the prior,case. Mr. Rozen then moved to Cedar Creek's claim that the
language in the Ordinance required access per stipulation 14 only if the future
development was an office complex. He commented that stipulation 14 did not specify
that the future development had to be pursued for office. He stated that prior to the
rezoning, the property had been zoned for HGB with no conditions, which would have
allowed multiple different uses aside from office. Mr. Rozen shifted his comment to
discuss traffic and circulation issues regarding the property's access. He stated that
since 2006, City Council had the vision and wisdom to know access to Pine Mountain
Road made sense for this property from a traffic perspective and to ensure the property
was not landlocked. He stated that DRB believes that both access points benefit the

Page 12 of 139



property. He also stated that having two access points helps with traffic on Pine
Mountain Road and Highway 41, and that limiting or removing the second access point
would create conflicting traffic movements.

Mr. Snow interupted public comment to state that the applicant was not taking the
position that they were trying to limit the proposed development to a single access point
as it had been mooted by the City Council’s decisions. He stated that they were not
seeking to eliminate a second access point.

Mr. Rozen responded that he thought the application was to remeve the condition. Ms.
Campbell stated that the applicant’s presentation conflicted with their zoning
application, which was to strike condition 14 from Ordinance'#2006-20. She stated that
staff made a presentation and analyzed the application based on the‘request to strike
condition 14. She explained that what the attorney was presenting was'not the
implication of what was outlined in their application.dVls. Campbell stated that,if it was
no longer the applicant’s intent to request the removal of stipulation 14, then‘the
submitted application was invalid and would have to be restbmitted to align with the
actual request.

Commissioner Trim asked if there wasd@ny reason to remove stipulation 14 if the
requirements have been met. Ms. Campbell responded that there was not a reason to
remove the stipulation. Commissioner Trim commented that'if stipulation 14 was
removed, the property owner would have the rightto"'put up a gate or other obstructions
because the road would then.be private with no stipulations. He asked if removing
stipulation fourteen woulddremove the applicant’s responsibility to make sure that the
access road is designed and in place a second access point. Ms. Campbell stated that
removing the stipulation could potentially allow the applicant to remove or block access.
Commissioner Trim'stated thatfit would'be;a. problem to remove stipulation 14 because
access that has been granted cannot be taken away if it was active. He commented
that the hearingsfelt like a'waste of the Commission’s time because it was clear the
applicant was presenting the case because they lost the vote on the last zoning case.

Ms. €ampbell requested to pause for ten minutes as the applicant’s presentation was
not in linexwith what staff prepared. She stated that staff did not know what the applicant
current intent was and requested additional time to discuss with the applicant.

Chairman Badenhamer stated that it would a good time to pause public comment to
understand what the applicant is trying to accomplish.

Mr. Snow clarified that they submitted their rezoning application prior to the Planning
Commission meeting and City Council meeting when DRB’s rezoning application was
heard as part of their objection to the rezoning. He stated that in the intervening time,
the Commission had made a recommendation to City Council that generally moots the
underlying point of eliminating access. He explained that the applicant is not requesting
to eliminate access as the City Council ruled that there needs to be two access points.
Mr. Snow stated that the request was to remove stipulation 14 because it had already
been satisfied. He expressed that the applicant does not want to be required to make

Page 13 of 139



additional improvements and upgrades to the road. He reiterated that stipulation
fourteen had been satisfied, is no longer necessary, and no longer needed to exist.

Chairman Bodenhamer announced that a ten-minute recess would be taken to figure
out the situation and reconvene with the proper staff recommendation.

Following the recess, Chairman Bodenhamer asked where the application stands with
staff. Ms. Campbell stated that based on their discussions, it is the applicant’s request
to move forward with the request to remove condition 14. She stated that if the request
was denied, then the applicant would request a recommendationdhat they met their
conditions for stipulation 14 and that nothing else is required on their part.

Chairman Bodenhamer asked if there were currently two points ofientry to the property.
Ms. Campbell responded that there were physically two points of entry but currently no
official easements. She stated that DRB is now taskeddwith obtaining decumentation to
obtain easement access.

Chairman Bodenhamer reopened the floor to ptublic commentand invited Mr. Adam
Rozen to continue.

Mr. Rozen thanked the Commissionersifer the additional time. He commented that
Cedar Creek’s view was that they fulfilledtheinresponsibilities for stipulation 14 by
building the road. He noted that private easement werk still'needed to be completed
and that building a road was not the same as providing aceess. He stated that removing
the condition because the road;has already béen built forgets that the purpose of the
stipulation is interparcel access. Mt. Rozen acknowledged that there was a difference
between the real estate’and easement issues and requested that the issue not be made
worse by removing the access condition. Mr.\Rezen presented to the Planning
Commission the Plan Review Committeeschecklist for 6205 and 6095 Pine Mountain
Road that was discoveredyand presented to City Council but not the Planning
Commission_atglast month’s rezoning hearings. He directed the commissioners to
signatures; notes, 'mark-ups; and stamps by staff that verified an access easement was
in place; referenced recorded andyunrecorded parking easements, identified the
location of shared access, and approved Land Distrubance Permit plans. He explained
that both properties came to the City and agreed to the access condition in order to
build. He stated that now that the buildings were built and have earned income, Cedar
Creek wants toodeny DRB access use. He expressed that they wanted to get along with
Cedar Creek but found it difficult to ignore that Cedar Creek does not want to grant
access. Mr. Rozen stated that they wanted access to build what they think is a good
development and get rid of what has been a blight for the City. He requested that the
Planning Commission follow staff’'s recommendation and deny the application.

Chairman Bodenhamer asked if there was any additional public comment. Hearing no
additional public comment, he closed the floor to public comment and opened the floor
to Commissioner comment.

Chairman Bodenhamer asked who maintains the entrance road off of Pine Mountain

Page 14 of 139



Road, if the road was maintained by any municipality, and if the road was going to
remain private. Ms. Campbell responded that the road would remain a private road. She
expressed the City’s hope that the property owners will come up with an agreement for
cost and maintenance of the easements.

Commissioner Trim asked if the stamped approved plans shown on screen gave the
applicant the authority to start construction. Ms. Campbell responded that the document
shown on screen was the site plan review process for Fivestar Building Solutions.
Commissioner Trim asked if the documents were stamped, signed,sand approved plans
for the two existing office buildings. Ms. Campbell responded in the affirmative.
Commissioner Trim asked if the plans allowed the applicant tofmowve forward with
building. Ms. Campbell responded that the document was afchecklistof items from
2016 that needed to be fulfilled based on staff review. She ‘explainedithat one of the
requirements was access location that was met duringdthe review processy Since those
conditions were met, the developer was able to obtain'the necessary documents to
move forward with the development.

Commissioner Trim asked if it was Ms. Campbell’s undefstanding that it was the intent
of the city at the time to ensure access to the back parcel. Ms. Campbell stated that
based on the notes and illustration, thatiintent was implieds, Commissioner Trim asked
what remedies were available if the applicantrefused access\to the back parcel. Ms.
Campbell responded that the City had legal ramifications to go against the applicant for
not fulfilling the requirements for condition 14 if they did not allow access. She noted
that infrastructure for both the,2.88 +/- and 8.82 +/- acre properties, including sewer
access and a detention pend, is.shared and that not allowing access would negatively
impact the property owner of the 2.88 +/- acres. Ms. Campbell expressed that the intent
of the development and the site was for the properties to coexist with a shared access,
detention pond, and'sewer.

Commissionerglrim asked the applicant if he was the original builder or developer. Mr.
Charles Barge responded that he was not. Commissioner Trim asked if the applicant
researched the details prior topurchasing the property. He asked if the applicant was
awaré of the checklist and the sign-off. Mr. Barge responded that the drawing was for
6205 Pine,Mountain Road, and it had nothing to do with 6095 Pine Mountain Road. He
stated that he had never seen the drawing before and stated that the access easement
for the rear of the propérty could be for Bank of America and did not know what
verifying access easement to the rear property referred to. Commissioner Trim stated
that the Commission was told a similar checklist goes with the applicant’s property.
Commissioner Trim asked the applicant if, during his research prior to purchasing the
property, he learned about the document and expressed comments or concerns when it
was discovered. Mr. Charles Barge responded that he did not research it.

Mr. Stephen Snow stated that the applicant would withdraw the rezoning application.
Commissioner Trim asked staff if the applicant was allowed to withdraw or if the
Commission needed to move forward. Ms. Campbell requested a five-minute recess.
Chairman Bodenhamer stated that a five-minute recess would be permitted.

Page 15 of 139



After returning from the five-minute recess, Ms. Campbell stated that since the applicant
requested to withdraw the application, the Planning Commission would have to make a
motion to recommend the withdrawal with or without prejudice and then vote onit. The
recommendation would then continue to Mayor and Council. Commissioner Trim asked
if the Planning Commission had to vote on the request to withdraw or if they could
continue and deny the request. Ms. Campbell stated that the Commission could vote on
either but that the applicant put in a request to withdrawn and the Planning Commission
would have to make a decision on the request.

Chairman Bodenhamer called for a motion to the deny the requaest;, approve the
request, or approve the request to withdraw.

Motion to deny the rezoning request by Commissioner Trim

Motion dies for lack of a second. Chairman Bodenhameér called for a new motion.
Motion to approve the request to withdraw without prejudice by Vice ChairVande
Zande

Seconded by Commissioner Butler

Chairman Bodenhamer proceeded with a roll call forapproval.

Vote taken. Vice Chair Vande Zande, Commissioner<lrim, and Commissioner Butler
voted in favor. Motion to approve the request to withdraw without prejudice unanimously
approved 3-0. Motion carried.

Ms. Campbell stated that in their presentation tofMayer and Council, staff would notate
that the applicant requested.the withdrawal of‘their application and that the Planning
Commission recommended approval for the request for the application to be withdrawn.

6. Staff Comment
Ms. Campbell stated that staff hadmoradditional comment. She welcomed

Commissioner Butler ta the Planning Commission, congratulated him on his new
position, and thanked him for his time.

7. Adjourn
Chairman Bodenhamer called fora motion to adjourn.
Motion te,adjourn by Vice Chair Vande Zande

Seconded by Commissioner Butler
Chairman Bodenhamer‘adjourned the meeting at 7:53 p.m.

Page 16 of 139



4.A.

Item Report
ez

Clty of Kennesaw GA

TO: The Planning Commission

FROM: Chanelle Campbell, Planning and Zoning Director

DATE: April 1, 2026

TITLE: LU2026-01 - Consideration of approval of a land use request submitted by Leigh Anne

Blades for the property located at 2970 Bancroft Glen (20008802440). Said request is
to obtain a home occupation business license to create jewelry, accessories,
handbags, and home decor. Property is zoned Planned Unit Development - Residential
(PUD-R), consists of 0.22 +/- acres, and lies in land lot 88, tax parcel 244.

Summary:
Recommendation:
Fiscal Impact:

Attachments:
1. LU2026-01_2970 Bancroft Glen__ Staff Analysis
2. LU2026-01_2970 Bancroft Glen_ Application_Packet

Page 17 of 139



PLANNING AND ZONING DIRECTOR MAYOR AND COUNCIL
CHANELLE CAMPBELL APRIL 20, 2026

ASSISTANT ZONING PLANNING COMMISSION

EEl i ;
ADMINISTRATOR/PLANNER City:of Estinesaw, O APRIL 1, 2026

PRISCILLA COLEY

COMMUNITY DEVELO.PMENT LEGAL ADVERTISEMENTS
CONTACT US Planning and Zoning MARCH 13, 2026
OFFICE: (770) 590-8268 2529 J.0. Stephenson Avenue
WEBSITE: www.kennesaw-ga.gov Kennesaw, GA 30144 PUBLIC NOTICE SIGN

EMAIL: zoningdept@kennesaw-ga.gov MARCH 13, 2026

APPLICATION SUBMITTED
JANUARY 23, 2026

STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT

ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01

Property Addresses
2970 Bancroft Glen
Applicant

Leigh Anne Blades (Three Generations Custom
Creation, LLC)

Representative

N/A

Property Owner

Christian Blades

Current Zoning

Planned Unit Development - Residential (PUD-R)
Future Land Use Category

Planned Unit Development (PUD)

Project Request: Land use permit to acquire a
business license for home occupation.

Please see page 2 for project request description. Aerial Map of subject property

FROPERTYDETAILS ADJACENT PROPERTY DETAILS

Within 1/2 mi from Unincorporated Cobb Co: Yes Surrounding Zoning Dist. and Future Land Use
Historic District: No

Cemetery: No Floodplain: No  Stream: No
Parcel ID #: 20008802440

Land Lot #: 88 Tax Parcel #: 244

Land Area: 9,000 sq. ft. or 0.22 +/- acre

Proposed Building SQFT: N/A

Proposed Streets: N/A

East: No Street
RECOMMENDATION Zoning: Planned Unit Development - Residential

Staff R dati Future Land Use: Planned Unit Development
2 econ_1men 2 _u_)n West: Bancroft GIn & Kirkwood Run
Approval with conditions

. L. . Zoning: Planned Unit Development - Residential
Planning Commission Recommendation Future Land Use: Planned Unit Development
To be determined on April 1, 2026 )

Please see pages 3 for zoning map.
Please see page 13 for basis for recommendation.

EEEEEEEEEEEESR EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEESR
= e

—

AN EEEEE SN NSNS SN ESEESENENEENENENEEENEEEEENNL
A e S = 5
M
SN EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEENEEEEEENENETS

) et
- Nt M. ~ =z
EEEEE N E NN NN EEE NN EEENEEEEEEEEEEEEEEENEEEEEEEESR

North: No Street

Zoning: Planned Unit Development - Residential
Future Land Use: Planned Unit Development
South: No Street

Zoning: Planned Unit Development - Residential
Future Land Use: Planned Unit Development

1
Page 18 of 139



STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT

ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01
DESCRIPTION OF ZONING REQUEST

4.04.05 HOME OCCUPATION

This is a land use permit request for a home
occupational business license. The applicant is
requesting to obtain a home business license to
create jewelry, accessories, handbags and home
décor.

Please see page 8 for photos of the equipment used

Please see page 9 for examples of products

o Pre-Application Meeting: October 13, 2025
e Application Submitted: January 23, 2026
e Fees Paid: $250.00

o Certified Letters Mailed: March 13, 2026

Home Occupation are allowed in dwelling units on

the basis that such uses are incidental to the use Site Visit: Staff Member:
of the premises as a residence. They have special ___ Yes Name: N/A
regulations that apply to ensure that home i No Date of Visit: N/A

occupations will not be a detriment to the

character and livability of the surrounding Land Use Recommendation:

Home occupational use is compatible

neighborhood.
There are two (2) types of home occupations, Historic Preservation:
Type A and Type B. Permit requirements and uses Not in a historic district

allowed in each type vary and are allowed only if
they comply with all of the requirements of this
ordinance.

1. In Type A home occupations, resident(s)
use their home as a Virtual Home Office
only. Employees, clients, or customers are
prohibited from coming to the residence.

2. In Type B home occupations resident(s) NN N NN NN NN NN NN NNENEENEENEEEE
use their home for work, home office, : ' . :
sales, deliveries, or business mailing
address results in one (1) additional
employee, consultant, agent,
subcontractor, customer, or delivery
personnel coming to the residence. Type B
home occupation are also required for any
activity that involves the physical
production or creation of a product at
subject residential property. Type
B home occupations must obtain a land
use permit from the City Council due to
their greater possible impact on the
surrounding neighborhood as a result of
individuals and visitors from outside the e
neighborhood coming to the property. S

Cemetery Preservation:
No cemeteries on site

n
n
[
n
[
n
[
n
[
n
[
n
[
n
[
n
[
n
[

I
[
n
[

- m

1
1]

2
Page 19 of 139



STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT
ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01

ZONING MAP

3

S

~=

|

LEGEND
Zoning Districts 0l R-12 RA-5 | Form Based Code | Zoning Overlays
- CBD i HI PBSH R-15 RA-6 Open Space giil'srzﬁi)(r;ttHazard
CRC LI PSC R-20 RM-8 T3 Conservation

Subdivision
B e . e PUD-R R0 [ Rz Tt 2
B B nre I e reo I Rv-t6 —— T40 Bl msatialion
B e ns I R-10 ra4 [ uve el

Senior Living

BACKGROUND

The site is currently zoned Planned Unit Development — Residential (PUD-R) and is surrounded by the same
residential zoning district. The property is located on Lot 43 within the subdivision and contains a detached
single-family home situated on approximately 0.22 +/- acres ( 9,000 sq. ft.). The lot was recorded in 1997 as
part of Pod H, known as Lullwater. The structure was built by D.R. Horton, Inc., as part of the Legacy Park
development.

The property was built according to the outlined development standards:
e Minimum Lot Area: 6,000 sq. ft.

e Setbacks:
e Front: 25
e Rear: 25

e Side: 5" (12.5 Between Houses)

3
Page 20 of 139



STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT

ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01
2022 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE

City of Kennesaw, GA

Planned Unit Development (PUD)

These are areas that are planned under a
separate master plan.

) iF

N o =/ Recommendations:

. $ x| < Internal amenities

v =« Walkable; connectivity to adjacent parcels
= =| ¢ Conservation of natural resource

oD _RU o Percentage of housing dedicated to being
. - affordable*

T o *Affordable based on the definitions and
:IIIlllllllIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII: Standards prOVIded bythe Un|ted States

LEGEND Housing and Urban Development.

- PRC - Park/Recreation/Conservation

Future Land Use

- CAC - Community Activity Center PUD - Planned Unit Development

- DAC - Downtown Activity Center - RAC - Regional Activity Center

I 1~ Industrial B RH - Residential High

NAC - Neighborhood Activity Center RL - Residential Low/Medium

Pl - Public Service/Institutional % TCU - Transportation Communication
Utilities

FUTURE LAND USE ANALYSIS

The Comprehensive Plan designates the future land use for the property as Planned Unit Development
(PUD). The intent of the PUD is to encourage efficient land use by integrating various land uses into a cohe-
sive plan, reducing sprawl, and preserving green spaces while fostering a sense of community cohesion. The
applicant's property will adhere to the Comprehensive Plan as there are no intentions to change the zoning or
the external appearance of the property, which could potentially alter the character of the neighborhood or the
overall density. Staff finds that the request aligns with the goals of the Comprehensive Plan.

4
Page 21 of 139



STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT £NER

City of Kt;nnesavﬁ GA
ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - AREAS

In addition to the established Future Land Use Map,
the City would like to further define an appropriate
development atmosphere to ensure compatible and
unified development within specified areas of the
City.

Furthermore, please refer to the Policy Matrix which
should be used for new development within each of
the described areas.

JILES AND BAKER

The Jiles and Baker area is a unique blend of older
and newer housing developments mixed with
LEGEND neighborhood-compatible retail. This is the largest
of the residential character areas in land area and
in population. Located in the northwest quadrant of

Kennesaw Areas [ Jiles and Baker
- Cobb Parkway Commercial Corridor :| Swift-Cantrell

B Riconour B Cormpus Living the City, the area spans from Moon Station Road
|:| West Pine Mountain - Cherokee Street Commercial Corridor west to near the Acworth City limits and from Main
[ East Pine Mountain Revitalization [ North Cherokee Street north to Baker Road. Single—family detached
I Kennesaw Due West I Moon Station Industrial Corridor residential is the predominant land use. Most of the
Cobb International Industrial Corridor [ Historic Central Business District homes are part of a neighborhood or planned unit
[ Kennesaw Marketplace B In-Town Living developments. Notable public features of the area
[ Barrett and OId 41 McCollum Industrial Corridor

include the Kennesaw Community Trail and being
adjacent to Swift-Cantrell Park.

COMPATIBLE FUTURE LAND USE

¢ Neighborhood Activity Center (NAC)
o Park/Recreation/Conservation (PRC)
e Planned Unit Development (PUD)

e Residential Low (RL)

5
Page 22 of 139



STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT

ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01
ENVIRONMENTAL

Floodplain:

Wetlands:
Yes Yes

_/ No /" No

Not Verified ____ Not Verified

Drainage Basin:

None

FEMA 100-year floodplain area

Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance’
Project subject to Cobb County Damage
Prevention Requirements

Dam Breach Zone (Upstream)?

Owner/Developer is responsible for obtaining
any required wetland permits from the United
States Army Corps of Engineers

Streams and Creeks:

Metropolitan River Protection Area®
Chattahoochee River Corridor Tributary Area*
Georgia Erosion-Sediment Control Law and
County Ordinance®

Georgia DNR Variance for work being done in
25-foot stream bank buffers (may be required)
City Stream Buffer Required

No Stream Buffer Required

1. Designated flood hazard

2. Need to keep residential buildings out of hazard.

3. Within 2000-feet of the Chattahoochee River. ARC review 35-feet undisturbed
buffer each side of waterway.

4. Cobb County review (___-feet undisturbed buffer on each side)

5.  State of Georgia and Cobb County review.

FEMA FLOOD ZONE MAP

L

ot

LEGEND

Special Flood Hazard Areas
2018 Flood Zones

E A D Subject Property
B AE || LandLots
B AE, Floodway Kennesaw City Limits
X, 0.2 Pct Annual
Chance

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS REGARDING PROJECT:

Applicant will be responsible to meet all City of Kennesaw Development & Zoning Ordinance Standards,
State, County and applicable Federal regulations as part of the plan review approval process. All conceptual
representations submitted with the application and acted on by Mayor and Council does not relieve applicant
and property owners from meeting all development standards.

6
Page 23 of 139



STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT

ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01
TRANSPORTATION DATA

Roadway Name
Bancroft GIn & Kirkwood Dr

Roadway Classification
Local

Speed Limit
25-MPH

Minimum Right-of-Way
Requirement
50-feet minimum

7
Page 24 of 139



STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT

ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01
TYPE OF EQUIPMENT USED - PHOTOS PROVIDED BY THE APPLICANT

Laser Cutter

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEENTN
8
Page 25 of 139



STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT Pl femae
ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01

| City of Kennesaw, GA I

PRODUCT EXAMPLES- PHOTOS PROVIDED BY THE APPLICANT

Etched Tumbler Tumbler

Monogram Lazy Susan Family Name Decor Family Name Decor

(o}
A EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEENT

Page 26 of 139



STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT

ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01
PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN OF WORKSPACE LOCATED IN THE KITCHEN

Areas with business equipment/supplies =: bronE
3D Printer &
Filament
Storage
Storags

Stairs

Stairs

Bedroom

School Room Living Area

Front Door

Laser Cutter
& Workbench

Art/Reading

Garage Foyer Roomm

Stairs

Painting Area

Stairs

Living Room Kitchen Dining Room

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEENEEEEEEEEEEEEEEN"
10
Page 27 of 139



STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT

ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01

.IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

HOA MANAGEMENT APPROVAL LETTER

October 15, 2025

Leigh Ann Blades Wanda Hostick
2970 Bancroft Glen 3154 Hartness Way
Kennesaw, Georgia 30144 Kennesaw, GA 30144

Re: 2970 Bancroft Glen
Dear Ms. Blades:

We understand that you are starting a business {Three Generations Custom Creations LLC) and
will be using the residence at 2970 Bancroft Glen as a home office. Legacy Park is a covenant-
guided community, and Exhibit C paragraph 2(r) of the Declaration provides:

Any business, trade, or similar activity, except that an Owner or occupant residing in a
Unit may conduct business activities within the Unit so long as: (i) the existence or
operation of the business activity is not apparent or detectable by sight, sound, or smell
from outside the Unir; (ii) the business activity conforms to all zoning requirements for
the Properties: (iii) the business activity does not involve regular visitation of the Unit by
clients, customers, suppliers, or other business invitees or door-to door solicitation of
residents of the Properties; and (iv) the business activity is consistent with the residential
character of the Properties and does not constitute a nuisance, or a hazardous or offensive
use, or threaten the security or safety of other residents of the Properties, as may be
determined in the sole discretion of the Board.

We appreciate your commitment to ensuring that your business operates within the guidelines
outlined above. As always, any violation of the Covenants would result in a notice and

appropriate action from the HOA.

Best of luck with your new endeavor! Please don’t hesitate to reach out to the HOA office if you
need any further information or assistance.

Sincerely,

Candace Cole
Property Manager

4208 Legacy Park Circle, Kennesaw, Georgia 30044
FI-909-2536 * Fax 770-919-0066* www. legacypark org

I City of Kennesaw, G. I

IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII“

11
Page 28 of 139



STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT P femae
ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01

| City of Kennesaw, GA I

STAFF ANALYSIS:
pi IEE E E EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEERNE
= The applicant, Leigh Anne Blades of Three Generations Customs Creations, LLC, is requesting a Land Use
: Permit for the operations of a home occupation at the property located at 2970 Bancroft Glen zoned
:Planned Unit Development - Residential (PUD - R). The applicant has applied for a Land Use Permit to cre-
m ate jewelry, accessories, handbags and home décor.

|

m Under current regulation, section 4.04.05 Standards for Home Occupation, home occupations are permitted
:with the approval of a Land Use Permit by Mayor and Council. "Home occupation" is defined as being those
® occupations which can ordinarily be carried on out of a residence or other structure without having any sig-

: nificant effect on the neighborhood or area from which such home occupation is carried on.
|
|

: Staff has analyzed the request based on the standards for decision outlined in section 4.04.05 with the fol-
: lowing observations :

-_—

Safety, health, welfare, and moral concerns involving the surrounding neighborhood

The proposed use will not generate excessive noise, nor will it emit smoke, odor, dust or vibrations de-
tectable to the normal senses outside the dwelling unit that will affect the safety, health, welfare and
moral concerns of the surrounding property owners.

N

Parking and traffic consideration
No additional traffic shall be generated by the home occupation other than would normally be expected
in a residential neighborhood, products will be sold online or at craft markets.

g

Number of nonrelated employees
The applicant will be the only employee connected to the functioning of the business.

s

Number of commercial and business deliveries
There will be minimal delivery through the USPS.

o

The city's general presumption that residential neighborhoods should not allow non-compatible
business uses

Staff finds that the residential nature of the community will not be affected as there will be no clients vis-
iting the property or external indication that a business exist.

o

Compatibility of the business use to the neighborhood

Staff finds that if granted the land use permit, the business will not be detrimental to the character or liv-
ability of the surrounding homes and the residential viability of the dwelling is maintained with the home
occupation being minor to the use of the premises as a residence. There will be no exterior indication of
the home occupation or variation from the residential character of the principal use or foot traffic that
would indicate the presence of a business.

™

Hours of operation
The applicant plans to operate the business from Monday-Friday between the hours of 9 a.m. - 5 p.m.

®

Existing business uses in the vicinity
The property is zoned Planned Unit Development — Residential (PUD-R) and is surrounded exclusively
by single-family residential homes.

.IIIIIII

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEN
12

Page 29 of 139



STAFF ANALYSIS REPORT
ZONING CASE #: LU2026-01

STAFF ANALYSIS:

pi IEE E E EEEEEEE N EEEEEEEEEEEEEEENEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEES
= 9. Effect on property values of surrounding property

The home occupation will not affect the property value of the surrounding properties as there will be no
significant alteration to the exterior of the dwelling unit nor will the designated zone be adjusted from res-
idential.

10. Circumstances surrounding neighborhood complaints
Staff has not identified any negative impacts that could be cause for complaints from surrounding prop-
erty owners. To ensure compliance with the standards listed in the Unified Development Code, staff has
included proposed conditions of approval that are listed in the recommendation body of this report.

11. Intensity of the proposed business use
The intensity of the proposed use is very low and would be compatible to the surrounding zoning dis-
tricts of Planned Unit Development - Residential.

12. Location of use within the neighborhood
Staff finds the home occupation shall be contained and conducted within an enclosed building. The pro-
posed use will be confined to the basement and designated office space of the principal residential
structure and will not be bleed into other areas of the subdivision.

:Staff finds that approval of the request for a land use permit will not affect the current zoning and will contin-
m ye to align with the goal outlined in the Comprehensive Plan. The property will maintain its residential nature

: and the character of the neighborhood and surrounding properties will go unchanged.
|

ZONING ADMINISTRATOR’'S RECOMMENDATION:

| |
: Based on the analysis completed by Staff, the Zoning Administrator, recommends approval with the fol-
: lowing conditions for case #LU2026-01.

: Conditions:

: 1. The land use permit is limited to, exclusive for and only valid for the current applicant and the life of this =
: particular business and use, and it is not transferrable. Any changes would require additional review and :
n approval. :
:2. There shall be no clients, customers or employees at this location. Nor shall there be any evidence ofa =
u home based business visible from the public right-of-way including no signs and no more than one com- :
: mercial vehicle dedicated to this business. L]
: 3. The land use permit is valid for 24-months starting from the date of approval. :
||
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:
= To be determined on April 1, 2026 :
: -
MAYOR AND COUNCIL DECISION:
:To be determined on April 20, 2026 ]
n |
|

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEENEEEN
13
Page 30 of 139



LAND USE & SPECIAL LAND USE APPLICATION

Required Fee $250.00 Date Received 01/23/26
Staff’s Initials CMC
& LAND USE APPLICATION SPECIAL LAND USE APPLICATION
Is this property located within the Kennesaw Historic District (yes) (no) NC

A MINIMUM OF ONE CONSULTATION WITH PLANNING AND ZONING ADMINISTRATOR AND
STAFF PRIOR TO THE SUBMISSION OF THE REQUESTED APPLICATION IS MANDATORY.
(Applicant or agent must be present at all public hearings)

Date of Consuliation Staft’s Initials

PURPOSE OF LAND USE REQUEST create jewelry, accessories, handbags, and home decor using

purchased supplies & various equipment (embroidery & sewing machine, 3D printer, laser cutter)

LAND USE PROPERTY ADDRESS 2970 Bancroft Glen NW, Kennesaw, Ga 30144

Land Lot 88 Tax Parcel 244 ~ LotSize (0,22+/- acresCurrent Zoning PUD-R
APPLICANT L€19h Anne Blades/Three Generations Custom Creations LLC

APPLICANT EMAIL

2970 Bancroft Glen NW, Kennesaw Ga 30144

Applicant address
(Homcﬂi (Fax#) (Waorki#)
(Cell#) . |
o)
——> Applicant Signature i/ ;%EE;J '
Signed, sealed and g{elive in presence of:

REPRESENTIVE

Notary B Date

(Fax #) (Work#) (Cellt)

Representative Signature

Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of:

Notary

Signature:/(/\v 7 /[ ddress: 2&1? /) &a/\ cer, £4 6 le a
Signed, seWprescnce of: \\\IF/U( ,Z,g ﬁ/“/&/ 03 !O(ﬂ IQU

Notary Date
Z/P&Z FORMS\Application 2025 Page |3

Page 31 of 139



: ity of Ken

CAMPAIGN DISCLOSURE REPORT' BY APPLICANT?

A separate form must be completed by each applicant).

Has the applicant made, within two (2) years immediately preceding the filing of this application for rezoning,
campaign contributions aggregating two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00) or more or made gifts having in the
aggregate a value of two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00) or more to a member or members of the Mayor
and Council or Planning Commission who will consider the application? WRITE YES OR NO: NO

If "Yes," the applicant and the attorney representing the applicant must file a disclosure report with the
Mayor and Council of the City of Kennesaw within ten (10) days after this application is first filed.

Please supply the following information that will be considered as the required disclosure:

The name of the member(s) of the Mayor and Council or Planning Commission to whom the campaign
contribution or gift was made:

The dollar amount of each campaign contribution made by the applicant to the member(s) of the Mayor and
Council or Planning Commission during the two (2) years immediately preceding the filing of this
application and the date of each such contribution:

An enumeration and description of each gift having a value of two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00) or more
made by the applicant to the member(s) of the Mayor and Council or Planning Commission during the two
(2) years immediately preceding the filing of this application:

"If the answer to any of the above is "'Yes," then the member of the Mayor and Council or Planning Commission must immediately
disclose the nature and extent of such interest, in writing, to the Mayor and Council of the City of Kennesaw, Georgia. A copy
should be filed with this application. Such disclosures shall be a public record and available for public inspection at any time
during normal working hours.

2 Applicant means any person who applies for a rezoning action and any attorney or other person representing or acting on behalf of
a person who applies for a rezoning action.

Z/P&Z FORMS\Application 2025 Page | 4

Page 32 of 139



CERTIFICATION AUTHORIZATION

I hereby attest to the fact that a certified mailing to property owners within 200 feet was sent

outon > / / 2/ 2(0 in accordance with the application requirements.
7 4

2i4/2¢

Date Applicant or Authorized Agent

Sworn and subscribed before me this 4’{/\ day of W\(‘AV((‘ &’\ 20 LQ U

(- cold /%

v,
2
¢ Z
> -
> -
- -
~ 3 -
o -
S s =
5 . <
S i s 2
= GLx Vv &
Notaty Public R EOR -
- s ] ;)
=z [} ’ s
- kY ’ ~
- ~
- ~
| A -~
“ S
% S
% ~

i -

g

Z\P&Z FORMS\Applications 2025 Page | 7
Page 33 of 139



Section 2100, Part 5 Standards for Decisions — Only Land Use Permits

A R e P A A ARt
Land Use Permits may be granted in such individual cases based on the standards for decisions as
follows, please comment using additional pages if necessary.

COMMENTS:
equipment contained in the home,
poses no risk to neighbors

(1) Safety, health, welfare, and moral
concerns involving the surrounding
neighborhoods.

no customers will be visiting location,
(2) Parking and traffic considerations. so no parking or traffic issues

There will be no non-related employees
(3) Number of non-related employees.

1-2 deliveries per week
(4) Number of commercial and business deliveries.

(5) The City’s general presumption that residential All work is done in the homej' 'SO|d. online
neighborhoods should not allow non-compatible | ©F _at craft markets, so not visible in the
business uses. neighborhood

All work is done in the home, sold online
or at craft markets, so not visible in the
neighborhood

Hours will be 9-5 M-F

(6) Compatibility of the business use to
the neighborhood.

(7) Hours of operation.

(8) Existing business uses in the vicinity.

| don't anticipate any impact to property

(9) Effect on property valued of value

surrounding property.

| don't anticipate any complaints. Most of
my neighbors are excited about my
business.

(10) Circumstances surrounding
neighborhood complaints.

(11) Intensity of the proposed business use; and

Inside my home
(12) Location of use within the neighborhood.

Z/P&Z FORMS\Application 2025 Page | 7

Page 34 of 139



Deed Book 15902 Page 3475

Filed and Recorded 4/26/2021 10:39:00 AM
2021-0061327

Real Estate Transfer Tax $385.00

Connie Taylor

Clerk of Superior Court
Return to: MCMANAMY MCLEOD HELLER, LLC Cobb County, GA
3520 Piedmont Road, Ste. 110 Participant IDs: 3076672330

Atlanta, GA 30305
File # 21-23-0031
Parcel 1D: 20008802440

STATE OF GEORGIA
COUNTY OF FULTON

LIMITED WARRANTY DEED
THIS INDENTURE made this 22nd day of April, 2021 between
Theodore L. Livingston
as party or parties of the first part, hereinafter called Grantor, and
Christian Jared Blades

as party or parties of the second part, hereinafter called Grantee (the words "Grantor" and "Grantee" to include their
respective heirs, successors and assigns where the context requires or permits).

WITNESSETH that; Grantor, for and in consideration of the sum of TEN DOLLARS and other good and valuable
consideration ($10.00) in hand paid at and before the sealing and delivery of these presents, the receipt whereof is
hereby acknowledged, has granted, bargained, sold, aliened, conveyed and confirmed, and by these presents does
grant, bargain, sell, alien, convey and confirm unto the said Grantee, the following described property:

See exhibit “A” attached hereto
Subject to all easements and restrictive covenants of record.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the said tract or parcel of land, with all and singular the rights, members and
appurtenances thereof, to the same being, belonging, or in anywise appertaining, to the only proper use, benefit
and behoof of the said Grantee forever in FEE SIMPLE.

AND THE SAID Grantor will warrant and forever defend the right and title to the above-described property unto
the said Grantee against the claims passing by or through Grantor.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has hereunto set grantor's hand and seal this first day and year first above
written,

Signed, sealed ang|

delivered in the presence of:

1

/e

~t
NALULTY i S A (Seal)
Theodore L. Livingston

(Seal)

(Seal)

g UMY, S
Pragppeny™

Page 35 of 139




City of Kennesaw

PROPERTY TAX DIVISION 2025
2529 J. 0. STEPHENSON AVE Property Tax Bill
KENNESAW, GA 30144-2780
(770) 429-4542
Parcel ID Tax District Bill #
20008802440 3/3-BOND - KENNESAW CITY 291936
Property Owner/Location/Description Fair Market Value Taxable Value
BLADES CHRISTIAN JARED 461,320 184,528
2970 BANCROFT GLN
Levies Taxable Value - Exemptions =  Net Assessment X Tax Rate = Net Tax
CITY OF KENNESAW 184,528 68,740 115,788 7.7500000000 $897.36
BOND 184,528 0 184,528 1.4000000000 $258.34
Exemptions: Current Year Tax $1,155.70
111 - Floating Exemption Interest $0.00
Penalty $0.00
Printed January 2026 | Settled Value Bill: You are receiving this bill due to the finalization of Other Fees $0.00
your appeal. Payments Received $1,155.70
For properties under appeal with Cobb County, an initial temporary bill was issued based on Other Amounts Due $0.00
85% of the estimated tax value due 12/1/2025. Now that your appeal has been finalized, this Total Due $0.00
bill reflects the full amount due for 2025.
Due Date 12/01/2025
If your taxes are paid through escrow, please forward the attached bill to your mortgage
company for prompt processing.
Any questions concerning payment instructions should be directed to the City of Kennesaw
Property Tax Department at (770) 429-4542 or taxoffice@kennesaw-ga.gov.
P I ID: 20008802440
Citv of K Please make check or Money Order Payable to : arce
ity of Kkennesaw City of Kennesaw Property Tax Division and Amount Due: $0.00
PROPERTY TAX DIVISION include the Parcel ID on your check. Bill: 291936
2529 J. O. STEPHENSON AVE :
KENNESAW. GA 30144-2780 For your convenience, you may pay by check, Due Date: 12/01/2025
’ money order, Discover, Mastercard, AMEX, AMOUNT PAID

VISA.

3% fee and $3.50 per transaction fee added to
debit/credit card payments. $1.25 fee per

ECheck transaction paid online.

BLADES CHRISTIAN JARED
2970 BANCROFT GLEN NW
KENNESAW, GA 30144

City of Kennesaw
PROPERTY TAX DIVISION
2529 J. O. STEPHENSON AVE
KENNESAW, GA 30144-2780

Page 36 of 139



Printed: 1/23/2026

Cobb County Online Tax Receipt

Thank you for your payment!

CARLA JACKSON  TAX COMMISSIONER

HEATHER WALKER CHIEF DEPUTY

Phone: 770-528-8600

Fax: 770-528-8679 Payer:

LEIGH ANNE BLADES

BLADES CHRISTIAN JARED

Payment Date: 10/2/2025

Tax Year Parcel ID Due Date Appeal Amount Taxes Due
2025 20008802440 10/15/2025 Pay: N/A or $0.00
Interest Penalty Fees Total Due Amount Paid Balance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $4,706.69 $0.00

Scan this code with your
mobile phone to view
this billl!

Page 37 of 139



Main Floor - 2970 Bancroft Glen NW, Kennesaw Ga 30144
Areas with business equipment/supplies :I

Front Door

Laser Cutter
& Workbench

Art/Reading

Garage
8 Room

Painting Area

Stairs

Living Room Dining Room

Please note: Drawing not to scale

Page 38 of 139



Upper Floor - 2970 Bancroft Glen NW, Kennesaw Ga 30144

Areas with business equipment/supplies = I

Front
Bedroom
Foyer
dd
S
]
(0p)]
Laund ]
Bathroom Jj Laundry Stairs
Bathroom
o <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>